1999

Utah v. Kenneth J. Webster : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction of wrongful appropriation of a vehicle, in violation of Utah Code Annotated section 76-6-404.5 (Supp. 1998). See Addendum A. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Annotated section 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996) which grants this Court authority to review appeals in criminal cases not involving a first degree or capital felony.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND
PRESERVATION OF THE ARGUMENTS**

1A. Under the Confrontation Clause to the Federal Constitution, courts may only admit hearsay evidence if a firmly rooted hearsay exception applies or the evidence possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. The hearsay statements admitted below, in which the declarant totally exonerated herself and solely blamed the defendant

for the crime, did not fit a firmly rooted hearsay exception and were inherently unreliable.

Did the trial judge err in admitting this evidence?

Whether evidence is admissible under the Federal Constitution is a question of law which this Court reviews for correctness. State v. Ramirez, 817 P.2d 774, 781 n.3 (Utah 1991). This issue is preserved at R. 38: 96-103, 113.¹

1B. Before the trial court may admit hearsay evidence under the residual exception to the hearsay rule, the proponent of the evidence must notify the opponent before trial to provide an opportunity to prepare to meet the evidence. Utah R. Evid. 804(b)(5). The State notified the defense during the middle of trial of its intent to admit hearsay evidence identifying the defendant as the perpetrator. Did the trial judge err in admitting this evidence when defense counsel relied on the absence of notice and claimed during opening statements that the State could not identify the perpetrator?

This Court reviews the trial court's decision to admit evidence under a correctness standard. Provo City v. Warden, 844 P.2d 360, 365 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). This issue is preserved at R. 22-23; R. 38: 97-98, 103, 113.

1C. Article I, section 12 of the Utah Constitution promotes marital harmony and preserves marriages by barring the State from compelling a spouse to testify against the other spouse. The State presented hearsay evidence from a wife that solely blamed her

¹The volume marked "R. 38" contains the trial transcript. The internal page numbers of that volume are included after the volume number.

husband for a crime and that served as the only undisputed evidence of guilt. Did the admission of this divisive evidence violate the Utah Constitution by sowing marital dissension, just as if the wife had testified herself?

Interpreting a constitutional provision is a question of law which this Court reviews for correctness. State v. Maguire, 1999 UT App. 45, ¶ 5, 975 P.2d 476. This issue is preserved at R. 38: 22-23, 52, 96-102, 113.

2. Utah Rule of Evidence 404(b) bars trial judges from admitting evidence of other crimes to show a criminal defendant's criminal character or propensity to commit bad acts. The trial judge below admitted evidence of a similar act that occurred seven years previously in Virginia and was totally unconnected to the alleged facts below. Did the trial judge abuse his discretion in admitting this evidence?

This Court reviews the admission of evidence of prior bad acts for an abuse of discretion. State v. Decorso, 1999 UT 57, ¶ 18, 993 P.2d 837. Trial counsel preserved this issue at R. 25-28; R. 38: 40-46, 91-94, 111.

3. At the time of the offense, the legislature had not specified a punishment for the crime of wrongfully appropriating a motor vehicle under Utah Code Annotated section 76-6-404.5(3)(e) (Supp. 1998). In such situations, Utah Code Annotated section 76-3-105 (1999) punishes criminal offenses as infractions. Did the trial judge err in sentencing Mr. Webster for a third degree felony?

Determining the penalty for a crime is a question of law which this Court reviews

for correctness. State v. Rhodes, 818 P.2d 1048, 1049 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). This issue is preserved at R. 42-43; R. 53: 5-15.²

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The Addenda contain reprints of the following constitutional and statutory provisions:

| | |
|-------------|--|
| Addendum B: | Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-404.5 (Supp. 1998) |
| Addendum C: | Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-105 (1999) |
| Addendum D: | Utah Code Ann. § 41-1a-1311 (1998) |
| Addendum E: | Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412 (1999) |
| Addendum F: | U.S. Const. Amend. VI |
| Addendum G: | Utah Const., art. I, § 12 |
| Addendum H: | Utah Rule of Evidence 404 |
| Addendum I: | Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-404.5 (1999) |
| Addendum J: | Utah Rule of Evidence 804 |
| Addendum K: | Utah Code Ann. § 41-1a-1314 (1998) |
| Addendum L: | Utah Const., art. I, § 18 |
| Addendum M: | U.S. Const., art. I, § 9, cl. 3 |

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed an Information on July 29, 1998, charging Appellant Kenneth J. Webster with one count of theft. R. 1. On the day of trial, on April 29, 1999, Mr. Webster filed a motion to allow his wife, Elsha Gallegos, to assert her state constitutional

²The volume marked "R. 53" contains the sentencing hearing transcript. The internal page numbers of that volume follow the volume number.

right not to testify against him. R. 22. He requested the trial judge to allow Ms. Gallegos to assert her right outside the jury's presence and to instruct the prosecutor not to comment on Ms. Gallegos' invocation of that right. R. 22-23. The prosecutor agreed not to call Ms. Gallegos to testify in front of the jury. R. 38: 39.

Also on the first day of trial, Mr. Webster filed a motion in limine to prevent the State from introducing evidence that Mr. Webster had admitted to police that he had committed a similar offense in Virginia. R. 25. Similarly, Mr. Webster sought to prevent the prosecutor from presenting evidence of Mr. Webster's conviction for that conduct. R. 27. The trial judge deferred ruling on these requests because he concluded that he could best determine the relevancy of the prior act evidence and its potential for prejudice after the State presented its case. R. 38: 46. Ultimately, he admitted the prior conviction because defense counsel had raised the perpetrator's identity during opening statements. R. 38: 93-94.

After Ms. Gallegos invoked her right not to testify, the prosecutor requested the trial judge to admit Ms. Gallegos' statements through the police officer that heard them. R. 38: 96-97, 99-100. Although recognizing that Ms. Gallegos' statements as hearsay, the trial judge admitted them under the residual exception to the hearsay rule. R. 38: 102-03.

The jury subsequently acquitted Mr. Webster of theft but convicted him of the lesser included offense of wrongful appropriation. R. 34-35; 38: 147; Addendum A.

Prior to sentencing, Mr. Webster filed a motion to clarify the penalty for the crime

of wrongfully appropriating a vehicle under Utah Code Annotated section 76-6-404.5(3)(e) (Supp. 1998). R. 42. At the time of the offense, the legislature had repealed the statute that had defined the penalty for wrongfully appropriating a vehicle. R. 43. Because the legislature had failed to provide any penalty, Mr. Webster argued that the statutory provision that addresses this very scenario, Utah Code Annotated section 76-3-105 (1999), required the trial judge to treat wrongfully appropriating a vehicle as an infraction. R. 38: 43.

At sentencing, the trial judge concluded that subsection 3(a) under Utah Code Annotated 76-5-404.5 specified the punishment, not subsection 3(e). R. 53: 14. Subsection 3(a) imposes a third degree felony. Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-404.5(3)(a) (Supp. 1998).

The trial judge sentenced Mr. Webster to 180 days in jail and suspended all but 165 days of that term. R. 53: 20. The judge also placed Mr. Webster on court-supervised probation for 18 months, required him to perform 120 hours of community service, and ordered him to enroll in cognitive restructuring classes. R. 53: 20. In addition, the trial imposed a \$750 fine and ordered Mr. Webster to pay \$200 toward the costs of his court-appointed attorney. R. 53: 20-21. Mr. Webster then filed a timely notice of appeal. R. 60.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Trial Testimony

On June 22, 1998, a customer traded in a 1988 Nissan Stanza at Intermountain Volkswagen. R. 38: 71. As was Intermountain's custom, the car was placed in a secured, fenced lot until a financial institution funded the loan supporting the transaction involving the trade in. R. 38: 62-63, 73. Intermountain would then recondition the car for resale or sell it to a wholesaler. R. 38: 70, 73. However, until the loan was funded, no one had permission to drive traded-in used cars. R. 38: 63. Once Intermountain obtained legal possession of used cars, salespersons had permission to test drive them. R. 38: 79-80.

Intermountain kept the keys to newly-acquired used cars inside a sales trailer in the office of Mike McGuire who oversaw the reconditioning department. R. 38: 62-63, 70, 76. At some unspecified time, the loan underlying the transaction involving the Nissan Stanza apparently was funded and Intermountain moved the keys to an unsecured box labeled "wholesale." R. 38: 78. All of Intermountain's 20 to 25 employees had access to the box. R. 38: 68-69. It is not clear from the record whether salespersons could test cars designated for wholesale.

About the same time the Nissan Stanza was traded in, Mr. Webster began working as a salesperson at Intermountain. R. 38: 63, 80. A few days later, Mr. McGuire saw Mr. Webster driving the Nissan Stanza off of the dealership lot. R. 38: 80. Mr. McGuire testified at trial that he definitely witnessed this event on the Monday or Tuesday before

July 10, 1998, which would have been July 6 or 7, 1998. R. 38: 77, 79-80, 83-84.

However, Mr. McGuire informed the police on July 10, 1998, that he saw Mr. Webster driving the car two weeks earlier on June 26, 1998. R. 38: 81. In addition, the police report of the interview with Mr. McGuire specifically stated that Mr. McGuire saw Mr. Webster driving the car two weeks previously. R. 38: 88-89. For some unexplained reason, that statement was crossed out. R. 38: 89.

Mr. McGuire testified further that he saw Mr. Webster driving the car two or three days after Mr. Webster began his employment . R. 38: 80-81. Mr. Webster began working at Intermountain about June 24, 1998. R. 38: 80-81. Moreover, it is undisputed that Intermountain inventoried the Nissan Stanza as being in stock on both July 1, and July 3, 1998. R. 38: 73.

About July 10, 1998, Intermountain discovered that the Nissan Stanza was missing. R. 38: 78-79. On that date, an Intermountain manager drove to Mr. Webster's large apartment complex and found the car in the parking lot. R. 38: 107. The manager then called the police. R. 38: 107.

Police Officer Michael Cupello contacted Mr. Webster at his apartment and asked if he had taken the vehicle. R. 38: 108. Mr. Webster denied even touching the car. R. 38: 109. Officer Cupello disbelieved Mr. Webster and arrested him. R. 38: 109. A search of the car revealed no personal belongings and the police took no fingerprints from it. R. 38: 115. In addition, the keys to the car were never recovered. R. 38: 79.

The Trial Judge's Rulings on the Hearsay and Prior Act Evidence

On the day of trial, April 29, 1999, Mr. Webster filed a motion to allow his wife, Elsha Gallegos, to invoke her state constitutional right not to testify and to allow her to assert that right outside of the jury's presence. R. 22. The defense feared that the State would call Ms. Gallegos to testify about her statements to the police following Mr. Webster's arrest. In particular, Officer Cupello telephoned Ms. Gallegos and informed her that Mr. Webster denied even touching the car. R. 38: 112. Ms. Gallegos immediately responded, "He is lying." R. 38: 113. According to Ms. Gallegos, Mr. Webster claimed that he had permission to drive the car. R. 38: 114. Ms. Gallegos admitted that "they both had been driving [the car] around" on July 8, 1998, two days before Mr. Webster's arrest. R. 38: 113-14. She thought Mr. Webster had returned the car on July 8 because Mr. Webster had quit his job at Intermountain on that date. R. 38: 113-14. When Officer Cupello replied that Mr. Webster claimed not to have driven the car, Ms. Gallegos responded, "We have a problem." R. 38: 114.

Also on the day of trial, defense counsel filed motions to prevent the prosecutor from either presenting evidence that Mr. Webster had committed a similar offense in Virginia or from allowing Officer Cupello to testify concerning Mr. Webster's statements about that offense. R. 25, 27. According to Officer Cupello, during the ride to the police station, he asked Mr. Webster if he had ever been arrested before. R. 38: 111. Mr. Webster admitted to being arrested in Virginia for "driving a vehicle off of a dealership

lot." R. 38: 112. Mr. Webster claimed in his motions that evidence of such a similar offense would unfairly prejudice the jury and would only serve to show bad character. R. 25-28.

Prior to opening statements, the trial judge addressed the motions. R. 38: 38. The prosecutor conceded that she intended to call Ms. Gallegos to testify during rebuttal but she agreed to do so outside the jury's presence. R. 38: 38-39. When the trial judge asked Ms. Gallegos if she planned to testify, she indicated that she wanted to wait to see how the trial proceeded. R. 38: 38-39.

Following a recess, defense counsel indicated to the trial judge that Ms. Gallegos may not have understood her right not to testify. R. 38: 48-49, 51-52. The prosecutor explained that Ms. Gallegos informed her that she wanted to wait until after Mr. Webster presented his defense to decide whether to testify to prevent a possible "miscarriage of justice." R. 38: 49. The trial judge explained to Ms. Gallegos that she had an absolute right not to testify, that the right promoted marital harmony and trust, and that Ms. Gallegos should base her decision on her own interests and desires rather than her desire to reveal what she knew about the case. R. 38: 52. Ms. Gallegos then reiterated her wishes to defer a decision until after the presentation of the defense case. R. 38: 51-53.

Concerning the motions to exclude evidence of prior bad acts, the prosecutor stated that she would not attempt to admit evidence of the prior conviction, but, rather, she only sought to admit Officer Cupello's testimony. R. 38: 39. The prosecutor claimed

that she needed the officer's statements to establish that Mr. Webster "intended to take the car" and "that it was [not] accidentally at his house." R. 38: 41.

Defense counsel strenuously objected to the admission of this evidence. He argued that intent was not at issue because the State could not prove who actually placed the car in the apartment complex parking lot. R. 38: 43-44. Even if the State could establish identity, defense counsel contended that the prior offense did not address Mr. Webster's intent in this case because that crime occurred in Virginia "at some undisclosed time" and it was completely separate from the present charge. R. 38: 43. Defense counsel reasoned that admitting Mr. Webster's statements simply risked the "possibility or even a probability that the[] [jury] would want to find him guilty for his past acts, rather than based on the evidence that is brought before the court today." R. 38: 43.

Defense counsel suggested that the trial judge defer ruling on the motion to exclude Officer Cupello's testimony until the State presented its case. R. 38: 45-46. Although the trial judge indicated that he was inclined to admit the evidence to show absence of mistake or intent, he agreed to defer his decision. R. 38: 46.

During opening statements, defense counsel represented to the jury that the State could not show "who drove the car to the place where the car was found." R. 38: 58. Specifically, defense counsel claimed that the State had no physical evidence linking the car to Mr. Webster. R. 38: 58-59. Instead, the State could only show that the police found the car in a public parking lot. R. 38: 58-59.

The State then presented its case detailing Intermountain's procedures in handling trade-ins and how it discovered that the Nissan Stanza was missing. Following this testimony, the trial judge revisited the motion to exclude the evidence of Mr. Webster's prior offense. The prosecutor argued that the evidence was necessary because the State had no other evidence to prove Mr. Webster's intent, knowledge and lack of mistake. R. 38: 91-92. In addition to repeating his earlier objections, defense counsel argued that Mr. Webster's mere statement about a prior offense lacked probative value without knowing any details about the crime such as when the offense occurred. R. 38: 92-93.

The trial judge ruled that "given [defense counsel's] opening statement," Mr. Webster's prior offense was relevant. R. 38: 93. Moreover, the trial judge concluded that its probative value outweighed its prejudicial effects. R. 38: 93-94.

The prosecutor then informed the trial judge that she intended to call Ms. Gallegos to testify. R. 38: 96. For the first time, the prosecutor indicated that if Ms. Gallegos invoked her right not to testify, the prosecutor would request the trial judge to admit Ms. Gallegos' hearsay statements through Officer Cupello. R. 38: 96-97. When the trial judge asked Ms. Gallegos about her wishes, she declined to testify. R. 38: 99.

The prosecutor contended that the trial judge could admit Ms. Gallegos' statements to Officer Cupello under Rule of Evidence 804(b)(5), the residual exception to the hearsay rule. R. 38: 97. According to the prosecutor, Ms. Gallegos' statements were trustworthy because she admitted, against her penal interest, that she drove with Mr.

Webster in a stolen vehicle. R. 38: 100-01. The prosecutor claimed that although Ms. Gallegos would not testify in front of the jury, she was willing to inform the trial judge exactly what she told Officer Cupello. R. 38: 97, 100-01.

Defense counsel objected that the prosecutor failed to give him the required notice under Rule 804(b)(5) that she would seek to introduce Ms. Gallegos' hearsay statements. R. 38: 97. Instead, defense counsel stated that Ms. Gallegos had consistently informed him that she would not testify. R. 38: 97-98. He also prepared his defense and made his opening statement "under the assumption that [the evidence] . . . doesn't fit under any of the established" exceptions to the hearsay rule. R. 38: 97-98.

Defense counsel further asserted that Ms. Gallegos' statements did not affect her penal interests because she claimed that she did not know that Mr. Webster did not have permission to use the car. R. 38: 102. He also noted that the statements did not satisfy any other hearsay exception and that the residual exception wasn't "designed to let any type of hearsay in" when other exceptions did not apply. R. 38: 100. Rather, the key to that exception was trustworthiness. R. 38: 100. Finally, defense counsel asserted that admitting Ms. Gallegos' statements would effectively deprive Mr. Webster of his right to confront and cross-examine Ms. Gallegos. R. 38: 103.

The trial judge ruled that because Ms. Gallegos' made the statements to a police officer, they were "proper" and reliable. R. 38: 102. In so ruling, the judge concluded that "[i]t is pretty clear that the rule allows this type of evidence to be admitted." R. 38:

103. The trial judge reasoned that either Ms. Gallegos uttered the statements against her penal interests or she innocently and dispassionately related facts that had "no particular impact one way or the other." R. 38: 102. In construing the evidence as "mere statements of inconsequential events," the trial judge deemed the statements trustworthy because there was "no reason she would say one way or the other." R. 38: 102-03. Concerning notice, the trial judge ruled that Rule 804(b) did not require the State to specify the method by which it would seek to introduce the evidence as long as the defense knew beforehand that the State wanted to admit Ms. Gallegos' statements. R. 38: 98, 103.

Following the trial judge's rulings, Officer Cupello testified concerning Ms. Gallegos' hearsay statements and Mr. Webster's admission to committing a prior offense. R. 38: 110-14. The State and the defense then rested. R. 38: 117-18.

The trial judge instructed the jury on the crime of theft and the lesser included offense of wrongful appropriation. R. 38: 123-24; R. 29: 5.³ The relevant jury instruction defined wrongful appropriation as exercising "unauthorized control [over an] . . . operable motor vehicle" with the intent to temporarily deprive the owner of possession. R. 29: 5.

During closing arguments, the prosecutor relied heavily on Officer Cupello's testimony concerning Mr. Webster's admission to committing a prior offense and

³The volume marked R. 29 contains the jury instructions. The individual instructions are numbered after the volume number.

Ms. Gallegos' incriminating comments. R. 38: 131-33. Defense counsel cautioned the jury not to conclude that Mr. Webster was guilty simply because he previously committed a similar offense. R. 38: 137-38. In addition, he contended that the State failed to establish that Ms. Gallegos' correctly identified the car that she and her husband drove as the missing Nissan Stanza. R. 38: 139.

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