1999

## Utah v. Kenneth J. Webster : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

1536. Those guarantees are present in this case when the challenged statements are viewed under the circumstances surrounding their making.

Rule 804(b)(5) provides that the following is not excluded by the hearsay rule:

A statement not specifically covered by any of the foregoing exceptions but having equivalent circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness, if the court determines that (A) the statement is offered as evidence of a material fact; (B) the statement is more probative on the point for which it is offered than any other evidence which the proponent can procure through reasonable efforts; and (C) the general purposes of these rules and the interests of justice will best be served by admission of the statement into evidence. . . .

Following up on his investigation, Officer Cupello waited until defendant's wife was off work the day he arrested defendant, then called her at home to tell her of her husband's arrest (R. 38:112-13). Nothing suggests that Ms. Gallegos was forewarned about the arrest or the possibility that she would be speaking to the arresting officer. Accordingly, her responses to the officer's statements were spontaneous and wholly her own. Further, nothing suggests that the officer was investigating Ms. Gallegos or that she believed that she was a suspect in the crime, thus making her more likely to be candid with the officer. When informed about the arrest and defendant's claim that he "never touched the vehicle," Ms. Gallegos blurted, "He is lying" and went on to briefly explain that she believed her husband had permission to drive the car, and that they had driven the car until she got her husband to quit his job at Intermountain Volkswagen around July 8, at which time she believed the car was returned to the dealership (R. 38:113-14). She was very surprised to hear that it was discovered in her own parking lot (R. 38:114).

These circumstances give rise to several particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. Ms. Gallegos had personal knowledge of the matters about which she spoke, and the matters were recent events. Hopkinson, 866 F.2d at 1201. This suggests intimate familiarity and recall of the events. She stated that they drove the car until it was returned, she believed, on July 8, when defendant in fact left his job (R. 38:63, 80, 114). Ms. Gallegos said she had not driven the car after July 8. This is in keeping with the other evidence of defendant's failure to appear at work, and the timing of the car's disappearance.

Ms. Gallegos volunteered the statements, and there is no reason to suspect that she was not telling the truth. Hopkinson, 866 F.2d at 1201. She was not required to make any comment and was under no compulsion to discuss the details with the officer. The exchange was not such that she reasonably would be motivated to divorce herself from the car at her husband's expense. There is no evidence that she was threatened with criminal prosecution or otherwise made to feel a need to distance herself from the car. Instead, it appears that she made the statements in a spontaneous discussion with the officer, making it more likely that the statements accurately reflect the facts as she remembered them.

Neither did she "absolve[] herself of all responsibility" for the offense, as defendant claims. Br. of Appt. at 20. She admitted that both she and defendant drove and rode in the car in the days preceding her talk with Officer Cupello, and she revealed her



own knowledge that the car came from the dealership (R. 38:114). The fact that she did not wholly exonerate herself from the situation suggests that she was being truthful in her statements.

The mere fact that she implicates defendant does not render her statements either unreliable or inadmissible. Br. of Aplt. at 22-24. Instead, careful review of the circumstances surrounding her statements determines their admissibility. Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 115, 118, 119 S. Ct. 1887, 1889 (1999) (while “accomplices’ confessions that inculcate a criminal defendant” are not per se admissible and must be carefully reviewed, they are not necessarily incapable of qualifying for admission under a hearsay exception); Lee v. Illinois, 476 U.S. 530, 541, 106 S. Ct. 2056, 2062 (1986). The circumstances surrounding Ms. Gallegos’ statements suggests that she did not have the strong motivation to shift the entirety of the blame for the offense to the accused, as might occur with accomplices or co-defendants. While she arguably could have been pursued as an accomplice, nothing shows that she believed she would be or that the State took steps to do so. Further, she did not seem anxious to inculcate her husband or to get him in trouble, as evidenced by her refusal to testify. Consequently, her statements have an added indicia of honesty or guarantee of trustworthiness under the circumstances.

Defendant contends that an officer’s memory of a witness’ oral statements necessarily lacks trustworthiness because written witness statements to police have been deemed to be unreliable. Br. of Aplt. at 24. In support, he cites to State v. Bertul, 664

P.2d 1181, 1184 (Utah 1983), which held that police reports of witness statements do not satisfy the business records exception to the hearsay rule. However, the case does not say that such reports cannot meet other exceptions to the hearsay rule, such as the residual hearsay exception. See id. at 1184 n.3. Thus, while such reports may lack the reliability required for the business records exception, in the right case, the circumstances surrounding the making of the report may well establish sufficient indicia of reliability to qualify under the residual exception. Such is the case here, where the circumstances establish sufficient indicia of reliability to permit admission of the statements under rule 804(b)(5).

Combined with the fact that the statements meet the additional specified requirements of rule 804(b)(5), the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statements supplies sufficient indicia of reliability to weigh in favor of the truthfulness of the statements and to support their admission.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup>Rule 804(b)(5) requires additionally that the trial court find that:

. . . (A) the statement is offered as evidence of a material fact; (B) the statement is more probative on the point for which it is offered than any other evidence which the proponent can procure through reasonable efforts; and (C) the general purposes of these rules and the interests of justice will best be served by admission of the statement into evidence.

The trial court held that these factors were all met in this case (R. 38:103), and defendant does not challenge that ruling on appeal. Br. of Appt. at 20-37. Hence, this Court may accept as true the unchallenged finding as to these factors. Dejavue, Inc. v. U.S. Energy Corp., 1999 UT App 355, ¶21, 993 P.2d 222 (accepting as true undisputed factual findings); see also Hoyle v. Monson, 606 P.2d 240, 243 (Utah 1980) (accepting the trial

**C. Assuming a Confrontation Clause Violation, Any Error was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt**

Assuming, arguendo, that Ms. Gallegos' statements lacked sufficient indicia of reliability to meet Confrontation Clause concerns, reversal is not warranted as the admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 1438 (1986) (concluding that confrontation clause error is subject to harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard).

Aside from Ms. Gallegos' statements, the jury had before it other compelling evidence which established defendant's guilt of wrongful appropriation of the vehicle. Notwithstanding defendant's claim that he never touched the car, Mr. McGuire saw defendant behind the wheel of the car the week it was discovered missing when he saw him drive it off the dealership lot without any justification or authority (R. 38:76-78). No one else was seen driving the car or had authority to do so. When defendant quit his job, the car was still missing, only to be found within days at defendant's apartment complex (R. 38:63, 73, 77, 80, 106-08). There is no evidence that anyone else living at that complex had access to the Nissan. That defendant was the one to take the car and that he did so intentionally is reinforced by defendant's own admission that he did the same thing at another dealership in Virginia (R. 38:111-12).<sup>10</sup> The only reasonable inference the jury could draw from the above evidence is that defendant drove the car off the lot without \_\_\_\_\_ court's unassailed findings that parties were not indigent).

<sup>10</sup>See Point II, infra, for a discussion of the admissibility of this evidence.

permission, took it to his apartment complex, and did not return it after he had quit his job. This made out all the elements of wrongful appropriation independent of Ms. Gallegos' statements. Accordingly, any error in the admission of those statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**D. Defendant Received the Required Notice Under Rule 804(b)(5)**

Defendant argues that the statements were erroneously admitted under rule 804(b)(5) because he received inadequate notice under the rule of the prosecutor's intent to admit the evidence. Br. of Aplt. at 29-32. Defendant does not claim that he did not know that the State anticipated using Ms. Gallegos' statements: the trial court found that defendant knew sufficiently in advance of trial that the State wanted to call Ms. Gallegos to the stand (R. 38:103), and defendant does not challenge that finding. Br. of Aplt. at 30. Defendant even admits that he took steps to ensure that his wife would not testify, including the filing of a pretrial motion seeking to ensure that she could invoke her marital testimonial privilege. Br. of Aplt. at 30.

Instead, defendant claims that he lacked notice that the State anticipated using rule 804(b)(5) as the method by which it intended to admit the statements (R. 38:97-99). Br. of Aplt. at 30, 32.

Rule 804(b)(5) provides that:

... a statement may not be admitted under this exception unless the proponent of it makes known to the adverse party sufficiently in advance of the trial or hearing to provide the adverse party with a fair opportunity to prepare to

meet it, the proponent's intention to offer the statement and the particulars of it, including the name and address of the declarant.

Defendant argues, without authority, that this language requires that he receive not only notice of the statements and the State's intent to use them, but notice of the actual rule under which the State will be seeking their admission (R. 38:97-99). Br. of Aplt. at 30, 32.

The analysis starts with the rule's plain language. "The fundamental rule of statutory construction is that statutes are generally to be construed according to their plain language. Unambiguous language in the statute may not be interpreted to contradict its plain meaning." State v. Redd, 1999 UT 108, ¶11, 992 P.2d 986 (citations omitted); see also Kimball Condo. Owners Ass'n v. County Bd. of Equalization, 943 P.2d 642, 648 (Utah 1997).

In this case, the rule speaks repeatedly in terms of "the statement": "the proponent of it [the statement]" must make the statement known to the adverse party; there must be "a fair opportunity to prepare to meet it [the statement]," there must be disclosure of an "intention to offer the statement" as well as of "the particulars of it [the statement]." Utah R. Evid.804(b)(5). Nothing on the face of the rule speaks in terms of disclosing the particular evidentiary rule itself.

Neither does the case law suggest that such a requirement be read into the rule. The State could find no case directly on point. However, the jurisdictions that have addressed the notice language of rule 804(b)(5), the identical language of rule 803(24), or

other similar language have interpreted that language as requiring notice of the proponent's *intent* to use the *statements* or notice of the *statements* themselves. See generally State v. Toney, 243 Neb. 237, 498 N.W.2d 544, 550-51 (1993) (under the residual exception to the hearsay rule, requiring notice of the statement and its prospective use); State v. Dillon, 191 W.Va 648, 447 S.E.2d 583, 594, 595 n.19 (1994) (under rules 803(24) and 804(b)(5), requiring disclosure of statement contents so the opposing party can meet the evidence); Williams v. Collins Communications, Inc., 720 P.2d 880, 886 (Wyo. 1986) (requiring notice of use under a residual exception to the hearsay rule). None have required notice of the actual rule under which the evidence would be offered. This is consistent with the purpose of the notice requirement, which is to afford the adverse party an opportunity to attack the statement's trustworthiness. See United States v. Frazier, 678 F.Supp. 499, 503 (E.D. Pa. 1986).

That defendant had an opportunity to meet the statement is evidenced by the sequence of events below. Defendant knew before trial of the State's intent to use the statements. Immediately prior to trial, defendant sought to have the declarant invoke her spousal privilege, which she in fact did after trial began. The prosecutor, who appeared at trial hoping to introduce the statements through the declarant herself, found herself unable to proceed as planned once Ms. Gallegos refused to testify. The State was then required to look at other means to admit the statement, which defendant anticipated inasmuch as he admits that he reviewed and excluded the use of "other hearsay exceptions" in planning

his defense. Br. of Aplt. at 30-31. That defense counsel missed the residual hearsay exception or miscalculated his ability to exclude the evidence under this exception does not establish that he received inadequate notice of the statement or its intended use by the State.<sup>11</sup>

As stated, the plain language of the rule does not require notice of the specific evidentiary rule under which a statement will be offered, and it is clear from the record that defendant had sufficient notice of the statements as well as the prosecutor's intent to use them at trial to meet the notice requirements of rule 804(b)(5). Any failure of counsel to succeed in excluding the statements does not stem from inadequate notice that they were important to the State and does not establish that defendant was not prepared to meet the challenged statements.

In light of the plain language of the rule, the trial court properly found that defendant received adequate notice of the statements as required under rule 804(b)(5).

Defendant nevertheless claims prejudice, arguing that the lack of notice of the specific rule prevented him from preparing to meet the statement and resulted in great harm because admission of the statements necessarily required the jury to label both defendant and his counsel liars. Br. of Aplt. at 31-32. Defendant fails, however, to

---

<sup>11</sup>Defendant does not explain why defense counsel apparently did not review the residual exceptions to the hearsay rule or account for them in planning the defense. Neither does defendant raise any claim of ineffective assistance with regard to his counsel's trial preparation on this issue.

acknowledge that the jury was free to believe or disbelieve the officer's rendition of the statements. Mere admission of the statements does not establish the credibility of the respective witnesses.

Defendant also overemphasizes the importance of the statements at trial, claiming that they alone established the essential elements of wrongful appropriation. Br. of Aplt. at 31. However, in addition to Ms. Gallegos' statements, the jury had before it defendant's claim that he never touched the car, Mr. Maguire's testimony that he saw defendant drive the car off the lot during the first week of July without authority or justification, the fact that the car was parked at defendant's complex, as well as proof of defendant's identity and intent through his admission of having committed the same act before. See Point IB, supra. In short, there was no reasonable probability that defendant would have been acquitted had the statements not been admitted. Consequently, defendant's claim of prejudice is without merit.

**E. Defendant Waived his Claim that his Wife's Marital Testimonial Privilege was Violated; Defendant Lacks Standing to Assert the Violation; Moreover, There was no Such Violation**

Defendant claims that the admission of his wife's statements amounted to a constitutional violation because the statements were the "functional equivalent" of testimony by one spouse against another in violation of Utah Constitution, Article I,



section 12, which provides that “a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband, nor a husband against his wife.”<sup>12</sup> His argument fails on three bases.

First, defendant failed to raise the issue below and does not mention plain error or exceptional circumstances. Consequently, he cannot assert it as a basis of error on appeal, even though it involves a constitutional right. State v. Archambeau, 820 P.2d 920, 922 n.3 (Utah App. 1991); see also State v. Anderson, 789 P.2d 27, 29 (Utah 1990).

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